NO. 48267-3-II

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF  
WASHINGTON**

---

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE,  
Petitioner,  
v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; and,  
STATE OF WASHINGTON POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS  
BOARD,  
Respondents.

---

**PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

SMITH & LOWNEY PLLC  
Richard A. Smith, WSBA # 21788  
Claire E. Tonry, WSBA # 44497  
2317 East John Street  
Seattle, Washington 98112

Attorneys for Puget Soundkeeper Alliance

##

## I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Puget Soundkeeper Alliance contends that Washington State water pollution control law means what it says: “In no event shall the discharge of toxicants be allowed that would violate any water quality standard, including toxicant standards, sediment criteria, and dilution zone criteria.”<sup>1</sup> The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued under the federal Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 *et seq.*, and the Washington water pollution control statute, Ch. 90.48 RCW, by the Department of Ecology (“Ecology”) to discharger Seattle Iron & Metals, Corp. (“SIM”) and upheld by the Washington Pollution Control Hearings Board is invalid and contrary to law because it explicitly authorizes discharges known to contribute to violations of water quality standards for toxic pollutants without mandatory, effective water quality-based effluent limitations. In issuing and upholding the permit, Ecology and the Board relied on a selective and untenable interpretation of these statutes’ implementing regulations that defies the State’s role in federal/state water pollution control permitting and the bedrock principle of these statutes prohibiting pollutant discharges known to violate water quality standards in the receiving waters. These errors are all the more

---

<sup>1</sup> RCW 90.48.520; *see Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Pollution Control Hearings Board*, 189 Wn.App. 127, 138 (2015) (“... our legislature has in no uncertain terms prohibited the Department [of Ecology] from issuing permits that allow toxic discharges in violation of applicable standards”).

egregious here because the receiving water is the Duwamish River, which is already so contaminated with PCBs and other toxicants it is a Superfund site and its fish are not safe to eat.

Soundkeeper challenges the Board's conclusions (1) that no water quality-based effluent limitations ("WQBELs") are necessary despite the reasonable potential for untreated stormwater discharges to cause or contribute to violations of Duwamish River water quality standards for toxic copper, zinc, and mercury, and (2) that despite the availability of a modern, reliable, and reasonable EPA-developed laboratory analysis method capable of quantifying PCB discharge concentrations at or near the low level of appropriate numeric WQBELs (Method 1668C), the NPDES permit must require monitoring by an outdated and manifestly inadequate laboratory method capable of detecting violations only at levels orders of magnitude higher than the appropriate limit (Method 608).

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Soundkeeper assigns error to Conclusions of Law 4 – 12 and the resulting remand order from the Board's July 23, 2015, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order in *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. State of Washington, Department of Ecology; and Seattle Iron & Metals, Corp.*, Pollution Control Hearings Board No. 13-137c ("Board Decision").

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Board err in concluding that SIM's NPDES permit must be issued with the requirement to use Method 608, the only method approved for PCB effluent limit compliance monitoring under 40 C.F.R. § 136, when such requirement effectively increases the level of PCB discharges authorized to orders of magnitude above the numeric limits needed to prevent violations of water quality standards, and a superior EPA-developed lab analysis method is available (Method 1668), providing quantitation and compliance monitoring in the range of such PCB limits?

2. Did the Board err in concluding that technology-based effluent limitations for copper, zinc, and mercury for SIM's untreated stormwater (outfall 002) discharge are acceptable "interim limitations" despite Ecology's finding of reasonable potential for these discharges to contribute to violations of water quality standards in the Duwamish River?

3. Does substantial evidence support the Board's deference to Ecology's "technical determination that it lacked sufficient monitoring data for SIM's untreated stormwater discharge to develop site-specific [WQBELs]" for copper, zinc, and mercury?

4. Did the Board err in remanding the SIM NPDES permit to Ecology without directions to (1) include numeric WQBELs for copper,

zinc, and mercury for outfall 002, and (2) condition permit issuance on EPA approval for use of Method 1668 for PCB compliance monitoring?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### A. Statutory and Regulatory Background.

###### 1. The Clean Water Act

With the CWA's 1972 enactment, Congress set important goals for restoration of the chemical integrity of the nation's waters to ensure "water quality which provides for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the water."<sup>2</sup>

To this end, section 301(a) of the CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant to the nation's waters except in compliance with specified sections of the CWA.<sup>3</sup> Section 402 establishes the NPDES program, under which the EPA or state agencies that have been delegated NPDES permitting authority, such as Ecology, issue permits authorizing and regulating discharges of pollutants.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(2); *see also*, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251(a)(1) ("It is the national goal that the discharge of pollutants into the navigable waters be eliminated by 1985") and 1251(a)(3) ("It is the national policy that the discharge of toxic pollutants in toxic amounts be prohibited"); *and see*, *Monongahela Power Co. v. Marsh*, 809 F.2d 41, 45 – 46 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (With its passage, the CWA "marked the ascendancy of water-quality control to the status of a major national priority.")

<sup>3</sup> 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a) and 1362(7).

<sup>4</sup> *See* 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b); *Ass'n to Protect Hammersley, Eld, and Totten Inlets v. Taylor Res., Inc.*, 299 F.3d 1007, 1009-10 (9th Cir. 2002); RCW 90.48.260.

Under the CWA, pollutant sources are either (1) point sources, which are prohibited unless authorized by NPDES permit or (2) nonpoint sources, which are not directly regulated by the CWA but addressed through state laws and planning incentives. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251(a)(7), 1288, 1311(a), and 1342; *Or. Natural Desert Ass'n*, 172 F.3d at

NPDES permit terms are limited to five years and, in addition to a variety of supporting conditions mandating sound operational practices, monitoring, reporting, and recordkeeping, generally include one or both of two types of limits, called “effluent limitations,” on the quantities of pollutants that may be discharged to waterbodies: (1) technology-based limits and (2) water quality-based limits.<sup>5, 6</sup>

While the CWA refocused water pollution control on the direct piping of pollutants into waterbodies, it retained the broader goal of attaining acceptable water quality within receiving waters.<sup>7</sup> Under Section 303, states must establish water quality standards, subject to EPA approval, that protect the desired conditions and uses of every river and stream, including fishing for fish that are safe to eat.<sup>8</sup> Water quality standards comprise three parts: designated uses, numeric and narrative water quality

---

1096 – 1097. “The term ‘point source’ means any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, or vessel or other floating craft, from which pollutants are or may be discharged. ...” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).

<sup>5</sup> See *Am. Mining Cong. v. U.S. EPA*, 965 F.2d 759, 762 n.3 (9th Cir. 1992); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44.

<sup>6</sup> The CWA defines “effluent limitation” as “any restriction ... on quantities, rates and concentrations of chemical physical, biological, and other constituents” discharged from point sources. 33 U.S.C. § 1362(11); see *U. S. EPA v. California ex rel. State Water Resources Control Bd.*, 426 U.S. 200, 204 – 205 (1976).

<sup>7</sup> *Pronsolino v. Nastri*, 291 F.3d 1123, 1126 (9th Cir. 2002); 63 Fed. Reg. 36742, 36745 – 6747 (AR 2436 – 2437).

<sup>8</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(2)(A); 40 C.F.R. §§ 130.0(b), 130.2(d) and 130.3.

criteria, and an antidegradation policy.<sup>9</sup> Every applicable component of each of the three parts is independently effective and their protection is cumulative.<sup>10</sup> Water quality standards form the bedrock of the CWA because they ensure that water quality and designated uses of waters are protected *regardless* of technological or economic limitations.<sup>11</sup>

NPDES permits must include effluent limits adequate to ensure compliance with water quality standards in the receiving water, and this mandate is virtually absolute.<sup>12</sup> As the Ninth Circuit put it, “[e]ffluent limitations are a means of *achieving* water quality standards.”<sup>13</sup> Issuing a permit that allows violations of water quality standards is prohibited.<sup>14</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(2)(A) and (d)(4)(B); 40 C.F.R. §§ 131.3(i) and 131.6; 63 Fed. Reg. at 36748 – 6787 (AR 2439 – 2478) (describing these components). Citations to “AR #” herein refer to the six digit numbers printed on the pages of the administrative record comprising clerk’s papers sub# 21.

<sup>10</sup> *PUD No. 1 of Jefferson County v. Washington Dep’t of Ecology*, 511 U.S. 700, 714 – 719 (1994); WAC 173-201A-010(1)(c) (most stringent criteria apply).

<sup>11</sup> *See PUD No. 1 of Jefferson County v. Wash. Dep’t of Ecology*, 511 U.S. at 700, 704 (1994) (“state water quality standards provide a supplementary basis . . . so that numerous point sources, despite individual compliance with effluent limitations, may be further regulated to prevent water quality from falling below acceptable levels”) (internal quotations omitted); *see also Ackels v. U.S. Env’tl. Prot. Agency*, 7 F.3d 862, 865-66 (9th Cir. 1993) (“economic and technological restraints are not a valid consideration” in establishing permit conditions necessary to comply with water quality standards).

<sup>12</sup> *Upper Blackstone Water Pollution Abatement Dist. v. U.S. Env’tl. Prot. Agency*, 690 F.3d 9, 28 (1st Cir. 2012); *Defenders of Wildlife v. Browner*, 191 F.3d 1159, 1163 (9th Cir. 1999); 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(C) (a permittee “shall . . . achieve[] . . . any more stringent limitation, including those necessary to meet water quality standards . . . .”); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d).

<sup>13</sup> *Trustees for Alaska v. U.S. EPA*, 749 F.2d 549, 557 (9th Cir. 1984) (italics in original).

<sup>14</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 122.4(d); *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance*, 189 Wn.App. at 137 – 138.

Determining whether an NPDES permit requires a WQBEL for a pollutant entails performance of “reasonable potential analysis.”<sup>15</sup> Reasonable potential analysis results in a binary determination of the probability that the discharge “causes, has the reasonable potential to cause, or contributes to an in-stream excursion above a narrative or numeric criteria within a State water quality standard.”<sup>16</sup> Reasonable potential analysis considers all relevant data about the discharge, and may be done by either statistical analysis or a broad, qualitative consideration of relevant factors.<sup>17</sup> Affirmative reasonable potential means that the NPDES permit must include WQBELs to ensure that “[t]he level of water quality to be achieved by limits . . . is derived from, and complies with all applicable water quality standards.”<sup>18</sup> WQBELs must generally be numeric limits on particular discharge pollutant concentrations or masses.<sup>19</sup>

---

<sup>15</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d).

<sup>16</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(ii).

<sup>17</sup> *Divers’ Env’tl. Conservation Org. v. State Water Resources Control Bd.*, 145 Cal.App.4th 246, 254, 257 – 258 (2006); *Sierra Club, et al., v. Ecology, et al.*, PCHB No. 11-184, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order (July 19, 2013) at 10 – 12 and 21 – 22; AR 2419 – 2420 (EPA guidance discussing reasonable potential analysis “without effluent monitoring data”).

<sup>18</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(A).

<sup>19</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(k)(3); *In re. the Matter of the Petition of Boeing Co.*, Order No. WQ 2006-0012, 2006 Cal. ENV LEXIS 121, 34 – 37 (Cal. Water Res. Control Bd. 2006) (§122.44(k)(3) authorizes use of non-numeric WQBELs only where numeric limitations are infeasible; “feasibility” refers to ability or propriety of establishing numeric limitations, not ability of discharger to comply); *see also* WAC 173-220-130(3)(a) and WAC 173-204-400(7).



Whenever required to carry out the 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) objectives, including to determine compliance with NPDES permit-imposed effluent limitations, the permit-issuing authority “shall require” a discharger to sample and analyze effluents in a prescribed manner.<sup>20</sup> Accordingly, to ensure use of lab analysis methods adequate to the CWA’s water quality objectives, EPA promulgated a list of approved methods for use by NPDES permittees.<sup>21</sup> Accompanying this list are provisions for “any person” to request EPA’s approval of alternative lab analysis methods on either a nationwide- or limited use-basis.<sup>22</sup>

Finally, as relevant here, as part of its cooperative federalism scheme,<sup>23</sup> the CWA makes clear that its mandates and standards are a floor, not a ceiling, for state implementation:

Except as expressly provided in this chapter, nothing in this chapter shall ... preclude or deny the right of any State ... to adopt or enforce (A) any standard or limitation respecting discharges of pollutants, or (B) any requirement respecting control or abatement of pollution; except that if an effluent limitation, or other limitation, effluent standard, prohibition, ... or standard of performance is in effect under this chapter, such State ... may not adopt or enforce any effluent limitation, or other limitation, effluent standard, prohibition, ... or standard of performance which is less stringent than the effluent limitation, or other limitation, effluent standard,

---

<sup>20</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1318(a); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i).

<sup>21</sup> 40 C.F.R. § 136.1.

<sup>22</sup> 40 C.F.R. §§ 136.4 and 136.5.

<sup>23</sup> *E.g., Nw. Envtl. Advocates v. U.S. EPA*, No. C03-05760-SI, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 69476, \*6 – 8 (N.D. Cal. 2006); *Save the Valley, Inc. v. U.S. EPA*, 223 F.Supp.2d 997, 1005-1006 (S.D. Ind. 2002).

prohibition, ... or standard of performance under this chapter

....<sup>24</sup>

2. Washington State water pollution control law

Ecology implements the CWA in Washington by issuing NPDES permits that must comply with federal standards as well as any more stringent state requirements.<sup>25</sup> The policy enunciation at the top of Washington's water pollution control statute emphasizes the state's intent to exceed the stringency of federal requirements where appropriate:

It is declared to be the public policy of the state of Washington to maintain the highest possible standards to insure the purity of all waters of the state consistent with public health and public enjoyment thereof, the propagation and protection of wildlife, birds, game, fish and other aquatic life, and the industrial development of the state, and to that end require the use of all known available and reasonable methods by industries and others to prevent and control the pollution of the waters of the state of Washington. Consistent with this policy, *the state of Washington will exercise its powers, as fully and as effectively as possible, to retain and secure high quality for all waters of the state.* The state of Washington in recognition of the federal government's interest in the quality of the navigable waters of the United States, of which certain portions thereof are within the jurisdictional limits of this state, proclaims a *public policy of working cooperatively with the federal government in a joint effort to extinguish the sources of water quality degradation, while at the same time preserving and vigorously exercising state powers to insure that present and future standards of*

---

<sup>24</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1370; *see also*, 33 U.S.C. § 1251(b) ("It is the policy of the Congress to recognize, preserve, and protect the primary responsibilities and rights of States to prevent, reduce, and eliminate pollution ..."); *Chevron U.S.A. v. Hammond*, 726 F.2d 483, 489-490 (9th Cir. 1984).

<sup>25</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b); *Nw. Envtl. Advocates*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at \*8; WAC 173-220-010.

*water quality within the state shall be determined by the citizenry, through and by the efforts of state government, of the state of Washington.*<sup>26</sup>

Supplementing the CWA’s aspirational prohibition on toxic discharges,<sup>27</sup> Washington statute includes an “even more categorical” prohibition, stating that “[i]n no event shall the discharge of toxicants be allowed that would violate any water quality standard, including toxicant standards, sediment criteria, and dilution zone criteria.”<sup>28</sup>

Dropping to regulation, two chapters of the Washington Administrative Code are most relevant here: Ch. 173-201A (surface water quality standards) and Ch. 173-220 (NPDES permit program).

Ch. 173-201A WAC establishes the criteria, antidegradation policy, and designated uses constituting Washington’s water quality standards, as well as instructions and tools for their implementation. For toxic pollutants, in addition to numeric criteria for particular pollutants (and incorporation of numeric and other criteria for toxics in the Ch. 173-204 WAC sediment management standards<sup>29</sup>), the narrative criterion fleshes out the RCW 90.48.520 “in no event” toxic discharge prohibition:

Toxic substances shall not be introduced above natural background levels in waters of the state which have the potential either singularly or cumulatively to adversely affect

---

<sup>26</sup> RCW 90.48.010 (italics added).

<sup>27</sup> 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(3).

<sup>28</sup> RCW 90.48.520; *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance*, 189 Wn.App. at 149.

<sup>29</sup> WAC 173-201A-010(4).

characteristic water uses, cause acute or chronic toxicity to the most sensitive biota dependent upon those waters, or adversely affect public health, as determined by [Ecology].<sup>30</sup>

The regulations clarify that when multiple criteria apply, the most stringent is to be used.<sup>31</sup> And they supplement the federal regulatory prohibition on discharges not ensuring compliance with standards: “No waste discharge permit can be issued that causes or contributes to a violation of water quality criteria, except as provided for in this chapter.”<sup>32</sup>

Ch. 173-220 WAC addresses Ecology-issued NPDES permits. WAC 173-220-130 mirrors the federal requirement for both technology-based effluent limitations, which must (in Washington) ensure implementation of “all known, available, and reasonable methods of treatment” (“AKART”), and water quality-based limits.<sup>33</sup> To issue an NPDES permit containing only technology-based limits and omitting WQBELs, Ecology must “make a finding that any discharge authorized by the permit will not violate applicable water quality standards.”<sup>34</sup> This requirement dovetails with the 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d) provisions for “reasonable potential analysis” and requires the Ecology finding – a negative reasonable potential determination – before issuing a permit omitting WQBELs.

---

<sup>30</sup> WAC 173-201A-240(1), *see also*, WAC 173-201A-260(2)(a).

<sup>31</sup> WAC 173-201A-260(3)(c).

<sup>32</sup> WAC 173-201A-510(1).

<sup>33</sup> WAC 173-220-130(1)(a) and (1)(b).

<sup>34</sup> WAC 173-220-130(2); *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance*, 189 Wn.App. at 138.

Regarding monitoring, WAC 173-220-210(1)(a) provides Ecology the authority to impose in NPDES permits any conditions for monitoring that “may be reasonably required ....” Central to one of the issues in this appeal, WAC 173-201A-260(3) provides more specific direction:

(g) When applying the numeric criteria established in this chapter, [Ecology] will give consideration to the precision and accuracy of the sampling and analytical methods used, as well as the existing conditions at the time.

(h) The analytical testing methods for these numeric criteria must be in accordance with the “*Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants*” (40 CFR Part 136) or superseding methods published. [Ecology] may also approve other methods following consultation with adjacent states and with the approval of the USEPA.<sup>35</sup>

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