COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD, and DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PHYLLIS J. BARNEY, WSBA #40678 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent Washington State Department of Ecology (360) 586-4616

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

V. ARGUMENT

PSA broadly asserts that the Permit allows violations of state water quality standards. PSA insists that Ecology failed to give effect to state policy calling for the protection of the quality of state waters, and to give full effect to its own regulations. But when doing so, PSA misinterperts technical aspects of the Permit, and reads out of the regulations plain statutory directives.

The federal Water Pollution Control Act ("Clean Water Act" or "CWA"), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251–1387, is a "comprehensive water quality statute designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters." *PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 511 U.S. 700, 704, 114 S.Ct. 1900, 128 L.Ed.2d 716 (1994) (internal quotations omitted). The CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant to surface waters unless made pursuant to the terms of a NPDES permit. *American Paper Inst., Inc. v. U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency*, 996 F.2d 346, 348–349 (1993). A NPDES permit must contain effluent limitations that reflect the pollution reduction achievable by a facility using technological controls. *Id.* at 349. In addition to these technology based limits, permits must also contain more stringent limitations when necessary for the facility's discharge to comply with state water quality standards. These are termed water quality based limits or WQBELS. *Id.*

³ Water quality standards are set by each state, and must be approved by EPA before they become effective. 40 C.F.R. § 131.21(e) (2015). If a state fails to set standards, or if EPA considers the standards inadequate, EPA will promulgate standards for that state. 33 U.S.C. § 1313.

Water quality standards have three components, (1) designated beneficial uses for a body of water, (2) a set of criteria, or standards, specifying the maximum concentration of pollutants that may be present in the water without impairing its designated use, and (3) antidegredation provisions, which generally prohibit discharges that would degrade the quality of state waters. *American Paper*, 996 F.2d at 349; RCW 90.54.020(3)(b); WAC 173-201A-300. Water quality standards can be expressed as numeric limits for specific pollutants. *See* WAC 173-201A-240(3), Table 240(3). Alternatively, a water quality standard can be expressed as a "narrative" limit, which is descriptive rather than numeric. *American Paper*, 996 F.2d at 349.

The first type of effluent limitations, technology based effluent limits, are based on "how effectively technology can reduce the pollutant being discharged." *Natural Res. Def. Council v. U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency*, 808 F.3d 556, 563 (2015). EPA may promulgate technology limits on an industry-wide basis. On a case-by-case basis, using their best professional judgment, a permit writer may require the application of one or more technologies at a facility to prevent the discharge of a pollutant. 40 C.F.R. § 125.3(c) (2015).

As the name suggests, the second type of effluent limitation, water quality based effluent limitations, are based on water quality standards set by a state. 33 U.S.C. § 1313; 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d) (2015). WQBELs focus on the amount and kind of pollutants in the receiving water. *Natural Res. Def. Council*, 808 F.3d at 565. A NPDES permit must establish limits for each pollutant in a discharge that will lead to compliance with water quality standards. *Id*.

A. The Numeric Limits for SIM's Untreated Stormwater Discharges Are Numeric Water Quality Based Limits

PSA contends that the Permit effluent limits for the untreated stormwater discharge are not water quality based.⁴ Pet Br. 40. This is

⁴ Effluent limits for copper and zinc are found in Condition S1.B of the Permit, and they are two of the limits imposed on the untreated stormwater effluent. See AR 3260. PSA includes mercury in its brief when discussing derivation of the limits

incorrect. The limits for copper and zinc for the untreated stormwater discharge in Condition S1.B of the Permit are water quality based, and their use in SIM's permit is a reasonable exercise of Ecology's discretion in the highly technical determination of appropriate effluent limits for permits.

1. Water quality based limits are required for the SIM Permit

If a reasonable potential exists for any given pollutant in a discharge to exceed water quality standards, the permit must contain effluent limits for that pollutant. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(iii) (2015). A permit writer must determine if water quality based limits are necessary in a permit by analyzing whether a facility's discharge will cause, have the reasonable potential to cause, or contribute to a violation of water quality standards. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(ii) (2015). This analysis is referred to as a "reasonable potential analysis." RP 534:19-535:11. Ecology has adopted EPA's process for determining reasonable potential, and

for the untreated stormwater, however there is no effluent limit for mercury in Condition S1.B. PSA's brief addresses only the validity of how the limits were derived, not the absence of mercury from the list found in Condition S1.B. To the extent PSA may be attempting to insert an argument that there is a reasonable potential for mercury in the untreated stormwater discharge to violate water quality standards and therefore there should be a numeric limit for mercury in the permit, that issue was not raised in PSA's petition and is not before this Court. The Board made no findings nor drew any conclusions regarding mercury in the untreated stormwater discharge, other than one statement that PSA's expert testified as to his opinion regarding mercury in that discharge. AR 249.

Ecology's Permit Writers Manual contains detailed instructions for conducting a reasonable potential analysis. AR 3416, 3422-23 (for protection of aquatic life),⁵ AR 3487-95 (for protection of human health).

According to Ecology's Permit Writers Manual, in order to conduct a mathematical reasonable potential analysis or to calculate a permit limit, an estimate of variability over time of the amount of each pollutant in a discharge is required. AR 3412. The estimator most commonly used is the coefficient of variation (CV). *Id.* A permit writer needs data to calculate the CV for a specific effluent. AR 3413. Ecology's permit writer testified that 10 to 12 samples were needed in order for him to calculate a CV with confidence. RP 536:14-537:6. Without sufficient samples, he testified, "you are going to have some numbers. But how reliable those numbers are, I won't use it for enforcement or for limit [sic]." ⁶ RP 537:4-6.

For SIM's treated process water from its industrial activity, Ecology's permit writer utilized SIM's monitoring data to calculate effluent limits. RP 537:22-538:11. When it came to the untreated stormwater discharge from the roof and parking lot, however, the permit

⁵ RP 3417-21 does not appear to be pages of the Permit Writers Manual, but a different document that was inserted and paginated in error.

⁶ In contrast, PSA's expert testified that effluent data is not needed to calculate water quality based permit limits. RP 352:12-353:2. His opinion, however, does not take into account that the CV, which is derived from site specific effluent data, is a necessary factor in the required calculations. *See* formulas at AR 3416 and 3422.

writer had only two data points from samples of that discharge. RP 538:24-539:8. He considered two data points insufficient for running the statistical calculations needed to perform a calculated reasonable potential analysis. Two data points were also insufficient for the calculation of permit limits, because two data points were insufficient to calculate the coefficient of variance, CV. *Id.*

The permit writer had information that dust from the operation may have settled on SIM's roof and parking lot. RP 540:3-15; 623:23-625:7. Data received from the City of Seattle and EPA also indicated that the untreated stormwater may contain pollutants. RP 540:3-15. Based on this information, he determined that SIM's untreated stormwater discharge required water quality based limits for certain pollutants. RP 543:24-544:1. This determination was essentially a reasonable potential analysis. RP 666:10-20. The positive finding of a reasonable potential is the reason that there are effluent limits in the Permit for the untreated stormwater. RP 666:22. No limits are needed where there is no potential to exceed water quality standards. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d) (2015).

Although water quality based limits were required for the Permit, in his professional opinion the permit writer had insufficient data to properly calculate those limits. Instead, using his best professional judgment, he imported numeric benchmark limits from the Industrial

Stormwater General Permit (Industrial Permit), which are applicable across a range of industrial facility types discharging to waters across the state, into SIM's Permit for the untreated stormwater discharge. RP 543:24-544:8. The benchmark limits are water quality based.

2. The numeric benchmark limits in the Industrial Permit are water quality based

Among the different NDPES permits issued by Ecology is the Industrial Permit. The Industrial Permit is issued to regulate stormwater discharges to surface waters from approximately 1200 industrial facilities statewide. *Copper Dev. Ass'n, Inc., v. Dep't of Ecology*, PCHB Nos. 09-136 through 09-141 at 3, (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, Apr. 25, 2011) (Industrial Permit Decision) (Attached as Appendix B). The Industrial Permit allows Ecology to regulate multiple industries through a single permit. *Id.* The Industrial Permit is implemented at a number of facilities in the Lower Duwamish. RP 540:23-25.

The Industrial Permit contains numeric "benchmark" values for copper and zinc. Industrial Permit Decision at 9-10. The benchmark values are used in the Industrial Permit as indicator values, which trigger adaptive management, a process by which a facility applies technologies to achieve the required compliance with water quality standards over time. *Id.* at 48-49. A first-time exceedance of a benchmark is not a permit

violation, but does trigger actions to reduce the amount of a pollutant in the facility's discharge. *Id.* at 9-10. The intensity of the actions required increases if there are subsequent exceedances of a benchmark. RP 669:12-670:8.

When the 2009 Industrial Permit was issued, Ecology's use of the benchmarks was challenged. The Board found that Ecology used a well-established statistical method, the Monte Carlo simulation, to develop pollutant discharge levels that would not exceed water quality standards for the likely pollutants found in industrial stormwater. Industrial Permit Decision at 18-19. The benchmarks in the Industrial Permit are numeric limits for pollutants that are protective of water quality in the majority of receiving water conditions. *Id.* at 20.

The numeric benchmarks in the Industrial Permit were derived based on compliance with state water quality standards, and therefore are water quality based. *Id.* at 18. Ecology considers the Industrial Permit benchmark limits to be protective of water quality in the vast majority of conditions. *Id.* at 20.

As Ecology's permit writer testified, he determined that importing the numeric benchmarks into the Permit as permit <u>limits</u> is protective of water quality for several reasons. First, rather than just triggering future adaptive management, the violation of a permit effluent limit subjects a

facility to immediate enforcement. RP 542:17-22. Additionally, the Industrial Permit was being implemented widely in the Lower Duwamish, the immediate area around SIM, where conditions are similar to what the SIM facility experiences. RP 544:9-11. And finally, EPA had used the same limits in its multi-sector general permit. RP 539:9-13. Because the benchmark limits are water quality based, they are consistent with the requirements of federal and state law and, as they are implemented in SIM's permit, are water quality based permit limits.

The Board properly concluded that the numeric effluent limits imposed on SIM's untreated stormwater discharge are consistent with applicable law. Substantial evidence in the form of the permit writer's testimony and the Board's Industrial Permit Decision supports the Board's conclusion. The Board's conclusion should be upheld by this Court.

3. The Board's decision does not create a compliance schedule for the untreated stormwater discharge

PSA errs in claiming that the Board considered the water quality based limits for the untreated stormwater discharge as "interim limits" as that phrase is used in the context of a permit compliance schedule. Pet'r's Br. 37-40. Compliance schedules provide a time period for a facility to come into compliance with discharge limits, and are permissible in NPDES permits. WAC 173-201A-510(4); WAC 173-220-140. When a

compliance schedule is incorporated into a permit, it must include dates for achievements and actions under a specified schedule, the so-called "interim requirements" to which PSA refers. WAC 173-220-140.

As PSA itself points out, neither the Permit nor the Fact Sheet discuss a compliance schedule for SIM regarding the untreated stormwater water quality based effluent limits. Pet'r's Br. 37. No delay in compliance with water quality limits is allowed in the SIM Permit. In fact, the permit writer testified that the incorporated water quality based numeric limits were immediately enforceable and thus made the permit stronger. RP 542:6-22. Not surprisingly, the Board also made no reference to a compliance schedule related to the untreated stormwater water quality based effluent limits in its final decision. See generally AR 236-37. The only discussion in the Board's Order regarding a compliance schedule relates to the schedule for delivery of the engineering report. AR 238, AR 266-67.

The Board did refer to the limits for the untreated stormwater using the word interim. See e.g. AR 238 ("Ecology considers the effluent limits in the 2013 Permit for the untreated stormwater to be interim limits as those limits will be modified based on the engineering report . . .");

⁷ For an example of what a permit compliance schedule does look like, see Condition S9, which is the compliance schedule for the engineering reports and maintenance manual. AR 3273. No such schedule for compliance with discharge limits exists in the Permit.

AR 250 ("Mr. Abbasi used the ISGP's benchmarks as interim numeric limits for Outfall 002."); AR 264 ("Ecology considers the limits interim in nature . . ."). But the reasonable reading of the Board's decision is that the Board meant the phrases "interim limits" and "interim in nature" as the word "interim" is generally used, rather than as a term of art related to permit compliance schedules. "Interim" is defined as "a time intervening," or "done, made or occurring for an interim or meantime." Reading the Board's decision in this way makes sense of its conclusion that that water quality based limits will be derived from the monitoring data collected by SIM during the current Permit cycle for inclusion in the next iteration of SIM's permit. AR 264. The Board's decision does not create a compliance schedule.

4. The Permit contains water quality based limits for SIM's untreated stormwater

PSA is in error when it states that the effluent limits for SIM's untreated stormwater are technology, and not water quality based. Pet'r's Br. 27. As discussed above, the limits in the permit are water quality based. Therefore there is no need for Ecology to make a finding

⁸ Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1179 (1971).

under WAC 173-220-130(2).⁹ Pet'r's Br. 11, 34. The Board properly concluded that the numeric limits for SIM's untreated stormwater are consistent with applicable law. AR 264.

B. Federal and State Law Mandate the Use of Method 608 for Permit Compliance

The Permit requires monitoring for PCBs for both SIM's treated process water and untreated stormwater. "If EPA has approved a test procedure for analysis of a specific pollutant, the NPDES permittee must use an approved test procedure (or an approved alternate test procedure if specified by the permitting authority) for the specific pollutant when measuring the required waste constituent." Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants Under the Clean Water Act; Analysis and Sampling Procedures, 77 Fed. Reg. 29,758, 29,758 (May 18, 2012) (excerpts attached as Appendix C). State law mirrors this WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h). PSA interprets WAC 173requirement. 201A-260(3)(h) as presenting three choices for selecting a test method for permit compliance. Pet'r's Br. 45-46. It does not. The plain language of the state and federal regulations require Ecology to use test methods specified in 40 C.F.R. 136 for permit compliance purposes.

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